

Ramke, J; Gilbert, CE (2017) Universal eye health: are we getting closer? The Lancet Global health. ISSN 2214-109X DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30302-9

Downloaded from: http://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/4189944/

DOI: 10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30302-9

Usage Guidelines

 $Please\ refer\ to\ usage\ guidelines\ at\ http://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/policies.html\ or\ alternatively\ contact\ researchonline@lshtm.ac.uk.$

Available under license: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.5/

Universal eye health: are we getting closer?



S2214-109X(17)30293-0

rether the citionately rethers to so that Lancet Glob Health 2017

Published Online August 2, 2017

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/

S2214-109X(17)30302-9

See Online/Articles http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/

Global health estimates are primarily used for global monitoring and priority setting. The estimates for blindness and visual impairment presented in *The Lancet Global Health*¹ help to monitor the current *Universal Eye Health*: A *Global Action Plan* 2014–2019 endorsed by the World Health Assembly in 2013,² which aims to reduce visual impairment and its unequal distribution.

Bourne and colleagues¹ estimated that global age-standardised blindness prevalence declined from 0·75% (80% UI 0·25-1·41) in 1990 to 0·48% (0·17-0·87) in 2015, and the corresponding decline in moderate and severe visual impairment was from 3·83% (1·66-6·42) to 2·90% (1·31-4·80). As the authors outline, reasons for this decline include socioeconomic development, targeted public health programmes, and improved access to eye health services. However, as most visual impairment occurs in older age, population growth and ageing over the period outstripped declines in prevalence. Consequently, the number of people affected increased—from an estimated 31 million to 36 million for blindness, and from 160 million to 217 million for moderate and severe visual impairment.¹

Alarmingly, the authors predict further increases in the number of people living with blindness and visual impairment: their future projections see a reversal of the downward trend in prevalence, with blindness (0·50%; 80% UI 0·17–0·92) and moderate and severe visual impairment (3·06%; 1·31–5·15) both predicted to increase in 2020 compared with 2015 estimates.¹ The authors acknowledge the limitations of their prevalence projections, but combined with the continued growth and ageing of the population their projections suggest that eye health services must be strengthened for universal eye health to be realised.

A further barrier to achieving universal eye health is persistent inequity, confirmed by the ten-times difference in age-standardised blindness prevalence between global regions, and the excess blindness and visual impairment occurring in women compared with men in all regions, even after accounting for women's increased life expectancy. Scarcity of data meant that other possible determinants of inequity such as socioeconomic status and place of residence could not be considered. Furthermore, we cannot assess whether

gains at the aggregate level over the past 25 years mask increasing inequity within populations, nor whether the projected increase in impairment will disproportionately occur in disadvantaged groups. We urge researchers to expand primary data collection and reporting so that future estimates can provide a more comprehensive equity assessment, and align with the equity-oriented monitoring aims of universal health coverage³ and the sustainable development goals.

As with many global health estimates, data gaps contribute to substantial uncertainty intervals. To calculate their estimates Bourne and colleagues¹ used data from 288 studies and more than 90 countries, but data gaps persist. For example, primary data were not available for approximately half the world's countries, less than a quarter of the 61 studies added to this updated analysis were from countries without previous data, only 15% of the surveys used national-level data, and near-visual impairment estimates were derived with data from only 14 countries.

Researchers and funders of primary surveys could reduce data gaps by prioritising future surveys in locations where known gaps exist, reporting results with standard definitions, and making survey results available, including datasets.⁴ Data gaps would also be reduced if vision assessment was included in broader population-based surveys that monitor universal health coverage.⁵ Fortunately, advances in mobile-based technology⁶ make this inclusion feasible. We recognise the benefit of national-level data to calculate global estimates, but in settings where subnational surveys are more feasible or useful for decision makers to plan services, the ensuing larger uncertainty intervals in global estimates from subnational data are arguably a reasonable trade-off.

These new estimates benefit from the increasingly robust synthesis and modelling methods in global health metrics over the past decade. However, tension exists between calculation of global estimates and planning of services within countries, and we agree that ever-more sophisticated global estimate methods should not come at the expense of strengthening local capacity to collect, analyse, and use data. In response to this concern, WHO recently committed to strengthen country health information systems within a broader

strategy to improve global estimates,⁸ and we welcome the inclusion of household survey implementation and use of findings in the capacity-strengthening plans.

The GATHER statement was developed to improve reporting of global health estimates.9 Additionally, we believe decision makers would benefit if authors prepared a so-called plain language summary of the main findings (as used by the Cochrane Collaboration). For example, Bourne and colleagues could explain the relative importance of mild visual impairment so that decision makers in countries with high prevalence of blindness can assess the extent to which they should consider mild impairment when allocating resources. To further assist interpretation of their findings, we encourage Bourne and colleagues to make their data and codes available and, in future estimates, more fully explain how they handled potentially biased studies¹⁰ in synthesis and uncertainty calculations, as well as differences with previously published estimates.8,9

Are we getting closer to universal eye health? Bourne and colleagues' projected increase in blindness and visual impairment, and persistent inequities between and within countries, suggest not. Better and more timely data will benefit future global estimates. More importantly, if researchers and funders strengthen country-specific capacity to collect, analyse, and use these data to implement effective and equitable eye health services, universal eye health might yet be realised.

*Jacqueline Ramke, Clare E Gilbert

School of Population Health, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Auckland, Auckland 1142, New Zealand (JR); and International Centre for Eye Health, Clinical Research Unit, Department of Infectious and Tropical Diseases, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK (CEG) j.ramke@auckland.ac.nz

We declare no competing interests.

Copyright © The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an Open Access article under the CC BY-NC-ND 4.0 license.

- Bourne RRA, Flaxman SR, Braithwaite T, et al, on behalf of the Vision Loss Expert Group. Magnitude, temporal trends, and projections of the global prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Glob Health 2017; published online Aug 1. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30293-0.
- World Health Assembly. Towards universal eye health: a global action plan 2014–2019. Resolution 66.4. May 24, 2013. Geneva: World Health Assembly, 2013.
- 3 Hosseinpoor AR, Bergen N, Koller T, et al. Equity-oriented monitoring in the context of universal health coverage. PLoS Med 2014; 11: e1001727.
- 4 Ramke J, Kuper H, Limburg H, et al. Avoidable waste in ophthalmic epidemiology: a review of blindness prevalence surveys in low and middle income countries 2000–2014. Ophthalmic Epidemiol 2017 (in press).
- 5 Boerma T, AbouZahr C, Evans D, Evans T. Monitoring intervention coverage in the context of universal health coverage. PloS Med 2014; 11: e1001728.
- 6 Bastawrous A, Rono HK, Livingstone IA, et al. Development and validation of a smartphone-based visual acuity test (peek acuity) for clinical practice and community-based fieldwork. JAMA Ophthalmol 2015; 133: 930–37.
- 7 Byass P. The imperfect world of global health estimates. PLoS Med 2010; 7: e1001006.
- 8 WHO. Global health estimates: proposals on the way forward. Summary of a Technical Meeting, WHO, Feb 13–14, 2013. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2013.
- 9 Stevens GA, Alkema L, Black RE, et al. Guidelines for accurate and transparent health estimates reporting: the GATHER statement. Lancet 2016; 388: e19-23.
- 10 Kuper H, Gilbert C. Blindness in Sudan: Is it time to scrutinise survey methods? Plos Med 2006; 3: e476.